1959

Parley D. Bills v. Denver & Rio Grande Western Railroad Co. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The parties are referred to as in the court below.

All italics are ours.

Parley D. Bills, was injured while engaged in the performance of his duties as conductor on the 20th day of April, 1955, when he was thrown to the floor of the caboose on defendant's freight train Extra #5501 East, as said train was moving along defendant's east bound

mainline track at Provo, Utah' (R. 2, 4, 122, 139).

Plaintiff filed his complaint in the Third Judicial District Court in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, on the 21st day of March 1958, alleging that he was an employee of The Denver & Rio Grande Western Railroad Company, a corporation; that he suffered certain injuries while in the course of his employment, that his action was governed by the Federal Employers' Liability Act, 45 U.S.C.A. Section 51, et seq. and that his injuries were caused in whole or in part by defendant's negligence in subjecting the caboose to an unusually violent jerk, and to a jerk that was not reasonably to be expected by plaintiff. Plaintiff further alleged negligence on the part of defendant by virtue of the doctrine of *Res Ipsa Loquitur* (R. 1, 2, and 3).

Defendant, by its answer, admitted its corporate existence, admitted that plaintiff's action was filed pursuant to the Federal Employers' Liability Act, and denied the other allegations of plaintiff's complaint (R. 4).

The case was tried before the Honorable Martin M. Larson commencing on the 1st day of December, 1958. The jury returned a six to two verdict of no cause of action (R. 58). Thereafter plaintiff filed a motion for new trial which was denied and the notice of appeal was filed on the 5th day of March, 1959 (R. 60).

Upon admitted facts the remedy afforded plaintiff is controlled by the Federal Employers' Liability Act.

Particular attention is called to 45 U.S.C.A. Section 51 which establishes liability for injuries resulting "in whole or in part" from negligence of the carrier, 45 U.S.C.A. Section 53 which provides that contributory negligence of an employee shall not bar recovery but shall only diminish the damages, and 45 U.S.C.A. Section 54 which abolishes assumption of risk as a defense.

B. THE FACTS

Plaintiff was 48 years of age at the time of his injuries. He had worked continuously for defendant as a brakeman and conductor since September of 1927 (R. 117). On the 20th day of April, 1955, he was assigned as conductor of an extra freight train scheduled to leave Salt Lake City at 3:15 P.M. with its ultimate destination Helper, Utah. The train consisted of a 4-unit diesel, 112 empties, 8 loads, and a caboose (R. 120). The first stop was made at Riverton, the next at American Fork, and the train arrived at Provo on the eastbound mainline track at approximately 7:00 P.M. (R. 121, 122). Plaintiff was riding the caboose. The stop was "a very normal, gentle stop" (R. 124). Thereafter plaintiff went to the yard office, delivered his switch list and waybills, and obtained a list of the cars to be picked up at Provo (R. 125). He then advised head brakeman Wonnacott and rear brakeman Serassio of the switching which was to take place and returned to the caboose for the purpose of "writing my train up" (R. 126).

The tracks involved were as follows: The eastbound mainline track which extends in a general northerly-

southerly direction; immediately to the east of the eastbound mainline track and adjacent thereto, the westbound mainline track; immediately to the east of the westbound mainline track and adjacent thereto, the pocket track; immediately to the east of the pocket track and numbered 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, etc., and adjacent thereto, a series of storage tracks; connecting the south ends of the pocket track and tracks 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, etc. and extending in a northeasterly-southwesterly direction, a lead track which is referred to also as a crossover where it proceeds across the westbound mainline track and connects to the eastbound mainline track (R. 124, 125).

The switching operation to be performed by plaintiff's crew was as follows: 30 cars were to be taken off the head end of the train and set out on one of the storage tracks heretofore mentioned. Other cars were to be picked up on track No. 1 and placed at the head end of the train (R. 122, 125, 201). Wonnacott and Serassio were to handle these final switching operations (R. 220).

The stop involved in the accident was unnecessary. The rear of the train, including the caboose, could have been left on the east bound mainline track where the original stop had been made. The engine and head end of the train could have been cut off, moved ahead approximately 20 carlengths and backed across the crossover. The necessary switching operations could then have been performed, the engine and cars moved forward across

the crossover and backed to a coupling with the rest of the train (R. 215, 216). If this procedure had been followed the train could then have moved out of town without another stop.

Krocscher, the engineer of plaintiff's crew, admitted the last stop was unnecessary and that the switching could have been accomplished without pulling the rear of the train down and stopping (R. 303, 304, 305). He also admitted that he had been advised beforehand that the last stop was to be made (R. 305).

The brakemen, unbeknownst to plaintiff, nevertheless had the engineer pull the entire train which was over a mile in length, a distance of approximately 20 carlengths and then brought the movement to a stop, with the plaintiff located in the caboose doing his paper work (R. 215, 216, 236). At this time it was getting dark and the brakemen were using their lanterns for signalling (R. 235).

Although the evidence was in conflict on the point, defendant introduced expert testimony to the effect that such a movement and stop could not be made without severe slack action occurring at the rear of the train (R. 305, 322).

After the train had moved possibly 15 carlengths, plaintiff arose from his desk and started to walk toward the rear end of the caboose. His purpose was to determine whether the rear brakeman had mounted the caboose and whether the switches were lined properly as they were

leaving town. This was customary. The train was proceeding approximately 5 or 6 miles an hour (R. 127). Plaintiff described the stop as follows (R. 128):

“A. Well, when I got about fifteen feet from my desk the caboose just stopped suddenly. There was no motion at all. We just stopped dead still and I was thrown backward onto the floor and skidded along the floor until I hit the end of the caboose.

“Q. How far did you move from the place where you were located at the moment of this stop?

“A. Approximately fifteen feet.”

The stop was so violent that it threw all the papers and manifest sheets to the floor of the caboose (R. 129).

Plaintiff further testified that the amount of slack action was not in accordance with customary and safe railroading operation (R. 188, 189).

On direct examination Wonnacott described the slack action as a “terrific run-in” (R. 223) and on cross examination he testified as follows (R. 224):

“Q. And slack action, severe slack action in moves of this kind is not at all unusual, is it?

“A. Well, I wouldn’t say that. This was a pretty severe one.” (R. 226).

Again he testified: “Well, I don’t think it should have come to that fast a stop.” (R. 230).

Serassio testified that he was standing near where the clearance point would be and was signaling directly

to the engineer (R. 244). When the train reached the point where the stop was to be made he gave an easy sign and then a stop sign. The cars stopped near where he wanted them (R. 237, 244). He did not remember how close they were to the clearance point (R. 245).

He testified concerning the nature of the stop as follows: "Well, it was severe. Severe." (R. 238). And again: "Q. As compared to the customary stop of a train of this type, on this track with this movement, was it severe or easy? * * * A. I would say it was severe, yes."

He further testified that at the time he gave the stop signal there remained plenty of room on the track for the train to have made an easy stop (R. 239).

There was abundant evidence from which the jury could have found that there was no need for the stop to have been so violent.

The two air braking systems which could have been used in stopping the train were the automatic, or train brakes, and the independent, or engine brakes. The automatic brakes apply brake pressure to the wheels on the entire train, including the engine and the caboose. The independent brakes apply brake pressure only to the wheels of the engine, and if there is slack in the train this slack will run in when said brakes are used alone (R. 168). Plaintiff gave his opinion that the engineer had used the independent rather than the automatic brakes and that this accounted for the violence of the

slack action (R. 137, 138, 139, 176, 177, 178).

Wonnacott testified that in his opinion the independent rather than the train brakes had been used. He based his opinion on experience and the fact that the head end of the train seemed to stop all of a sudden before the cars did (R. 206, 230).

Wonnacott also testified that "he can apply the air where it gradually stops those cars" (R. 226).

Serassio was of the same opinion, testifying again and again that if the customary procedure of using the automatic rather than the independent air had been followed the stop would not have been so severe (R. 250, 251, 254, 257, 259, 282, 283). Serassio further testified that he actually saw from the lack of piston travel that the independent rather than the automatic brakes had been used (R. 259).

Plaintiff was not prepared for the slack action for two reasons. First, he thought the train was leaving town. Second, he did not expect slack action of the degree of violence that occurred. Normal slack action, in his opinion, would not have caused him to be injured (R. 127, 128, 171).

Following the accident plaintiff left the train, went to the yard office and reported his injury. He then returned to the train and proceeded to Thistle, a distance of approximately 20 miles, at which point he was relieved (R. 140, 141). He suffered a ruptured intervertebral disc which later required a fusion operation with result-

ant permanent partial disability (R. 85, 86, 87, 88).

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL
ERROR BY GIVING INSTRUCTION NO. 25.

POINT II.

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL
ERROR BY GIVING INSTRUCTION NO. 19.

POINT III.

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL
ERROR BY GIVING INSTRUCTION NO. 20.

POINT IV.

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL
ERROR BY GIVING INSTRUCTION NO. 23.

POINT V.

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL
ERROR BY GIVING INSTRUCTION NO. 24.

POINT VI.

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL
ERROR BY GIVING INSTRUCTION NO. 21.

POINT VII.

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL
ERROR WHEN IT STRUCK THE ENTIRE TESTIMONY
OF THE WITNESS PAUL FRANK THOMAS.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL
ERROR BY GIVING INSTRUCTION NO. 25.

For convenience of the Court, Instruction No. 25 is herein set forth:

"Plaintiff in the exercise of reasonable care is required by the safety rules of The Denver and Rio Grande Western Railroad Company to protect himself against injury as far as possible from jerks, slack action or any other unexpected motion by keeping a firm grip and a secure foothold when riding on or in moving equipment."

Instruction No. 25 is defendant's requested Instruction No. 9. Counsel for plaintiff made the following exception to said instruction:

"Plaintiff objects to the giving of Instruction No. 25 on the grounds that it states that plaintiff, in the exercise of reasonable care, is required by the safety rules of the Denver & Rio Grande Railroad Company to protect himself against injury, as far as possible, from jerks, slack action, or any other unexpected motion by keeping a firm grip and secure foothold when riding on moving equipment, on the grounds and for the reason that the plaintiff would not be required, under the law, to protect himself against unexpected motions of the type indicated, and the rules of the company cannot be made contrary to the rules of law and become a standard of care to be imposed upon its own employees, for the reason that it can be easily seen that such rules could be made which would make them negligent regardless of what they did; and to say that they are negligent for not anticipating unexpected motions goes too far, and is an incorrect statement of the law." (R. 351, 352).

In conjunction with Instruction No. 25 which re-

quires plaintiff to expect the unexpected we call attention to Instruction No. 17 (a) which allows the jury to find not only that plaintiff was contributorily negligent but that his contributory negligence was the sole proximate cause of his own injuries.

The law is clear that it is not negligence for one to fail to anticipate and guard against harm which can come solely through the negligent acts of another person or persons.

See *Bruner v. McCarthy, et al.*, 105 Utah 399, 406, 142 P. 2d 649, where the court stated:

“* * * Where the accident has been caused by the failure to give such signal the party working in a crew responsible for such omission will not be heard to say that the injury suffered could have been avoided had the injured party conducted himself on the assumption that the signal would not be given; that the consequences of the delict could have been avoided had the injured party, as appears from hindsight, so conducted or positioned himself as to make the delict inconsequential.”

And in *Mathews v. Daly West Mining Co.*, 27 Utah 193, 75 P. 722 (1904), the court stated:

“It is also well settled that the negligence of the master is not among the risks so assumed by the servant. Therefore when the servant, in the discharge of his duties, is in a position which is, under the conditions which then exist, naturally safe, but is suddenly made dangerous by the negligence of the master, and the injury to the servant is immediately caused thereby, the master is liable.”

In *McCulloch v. Horton*, (Mont.), 56 P. 2d 1344, the court stated:

"The failure to anticipate negligence which results in injury is not negligence and will not defeat the action for the injury sustained. 20 R.C.L. 118; *Central Railroad Co. v. De Busley* (C.C.A.) 261 F. 561; *Wagner v. Philadelphia Rapid Transit Co.*, 252 Pa. 354, 97 A. 471; *North Bend Lumber Co. v. Seattle*, 116 Wash. 500, 199 P. 988, 19 A.L.R. 415."

In *Greenwood v. Summers, et al.*, (Cal.) 149 P. 2d 35, the court recognized the rule in the following language:

"The general rule is that every person who is himself exercising ordinary care has a right to presume that every other person will perform his duty and obey the law, and in the absence of reasonable ground to think otherwise it is not negligence to assume that he is not exposed to danger which comes to him only from violation of law or duty by such other person. See *Harris v. Johnson*, 1916, 174 Cal. 55, 58, 161 P. 1155, L.R.A. 1917C, 477, Ann. Cas. 1918E, 560; *Pinello v. Taylor*, 1933, 128 Cal. App. 508, 512, 17 P. 2d 1039."

See also *Pinello v. Taylor* (Cal.) 17 P. 2d 1039, *Bowers, et ux. v. Foster et ux.*, (Wash.) 278 P. 1072; *Beck v. Sirota* (Cal.) 109 P. 2d 419; and *Hechler et al v. McDonnell*, (Cal.) 109 P. 2d 426.

The primary vice of Instruction No. 25 is that plaintiff is required to anticipate and guard against all unexpected jerks, regardless of their origin or severity.

Even though smooth operation would normally be expected, and a jerk occurs, plaintiff must expect the jerk because an operating rule of the Denver & Rio Grande Railroad Co. so decrees. He must expect a stop from a sudden failure of equipment, a bolt of lightning, or the negligent act of a fellow employee because the railroad has a rule to that effect. *And if he doesn't expect the unexpected he is negligent as a matter of law.* Even though a reasonably prudent person under the circumstances would not expect a jerk, this plaintiff must expect a jerk because his employer has enacted a rule. This is the first case to our knowledge in which a trial court has ever permitted a railroad company to repeal an act of Congress. And we call the Court's attention to the fact that defense counsel led the trial court into this ridiculous error with his Requested Instruction No. 9.

Instruction No. 25 also revives the outlawed defense of assumption of risk.

In the year 1939 Congress amended the Federal Employers' Liability Act and abolished the doctrine of assumption of risk as a defense. 45 U.S.C.A. Section 54 reads as follows:

"§54. Assumption of risks of employment. In any action brought against any common carrier under or by virtue of any of the provisions of this chapter to recover damages for injuries to, or the death of, any of its employees, such employee shall not be held to have assumed the risks of his employment in any case where such injury or death resulted in whole or in part from the negligence of any of the officers, agent, or em-

ployees of such carrier; and no employee shall be held to have assumed the risks of his employment in any case where the violation by such common carrier of any statute enacted for the safety of employees contributed to the injury or death of such employee. Apr. 22, 1908, c. 149 § 4, 35 Stat. 66; Aug. 11, 1939, c. 685 § 1, 53 Stat. 1404."

The leading case decided by the United States Supreme Court interpreting the above statute is *Tiller v. Atlantic Coast Line R. Co.*, 318 U. S. 54, 87 L. Ed. 610, 63 S. Ct. 444, wherein the background of the doctrine of assumption of risk is discussed and the court concludes in the following historic language:

"The doctrine of assumption of risk cannot be 'abolished in toto' and still remain in partial existence as the court below suggests. The theory that a servant is completely barred from recovery for injury resulting from his master's negligence, which legislatures have sought to eliminate in all its various forms of contributory negligence, the fellow servant rule, and assumption of risk, must not, contrary to the will of Congress, be allowed recrudescence under any other label in the common law lexicon * * * *"

A number of cases have followed the lead of the *Tiller* case, *supra*, in holding the line against efforts on the part of various lesser courts to limit and circumscribe the intent of Congress when it abolished the defense of assumption of risk. We cite *Thomas, Appellant, v. Union Railway Company, Appellee*, (Sixth Cir. Oct. 14, 1954) 216 F. 2d 18, where the trial court attempted to eliminate recovery by plaintiff if he knew and was

aware of danger created by negligence of the defendant and even in that situation the appellate court reversed and held that such knowledge on plaintiff's part was not a defense under the Federal Employers' Liability Act. The court stated:

"The trial court charged the jury that the railroad was not liable for injuries sustained from dangers that were obvious or as well known to the injured party as to the railroad; and that if the jury found from the evidence a dangerous condition of the concrete floor near the foreman's office, in the roundhouse, or deficient lighting facilities in that place, 'if such dangerous condition existed, was obvious, or as well known to the plaintiff Thomas as to the railroad, the defendant would not be liable for injury sustained from such dangerous condition.' The foregoing charged the employee with assumption of risk. This was error, as 'every vestige of the doctrine of assumption of risk was obliterated from the law (the Federal Employers' Liability Act) by the 1939 amendment.' *Tiller v. Atlantic Coast Line R. Co.*, 318 U.S. 54, 58, 63 S. Ct. 444, 446, 87 L. Ed. 610. Even though the employee may know that the employer has been negligent in the furnishing of a safe place to work, the employee does not, under the Federal Employers' Liability Act, assume the risks of such danger. *Williams v. Atlantic Coast Line R. Co.*, 5 Cir. 190 F. 2d 744, 748."

In *Texas and Pacific Railway Company v. Buckles*, (Sixth Cir. decided Apr. 6, 1956), 232 F. 2d 257, certiorary denied, 76 S. Ct. 1052, defendant requested an instruction in the following language:

"Where an employee of a common carrier by railroad operating in interstate commerce anticipates the risk resulting from the possible negligence of a fellow employee, or should under the circumstances anticipate such risk, and decides to chance that particular risk, he cannot recover for an injury resulting from such negligence. Therefore, if you find that complainant anticipated, or should have anticipated, the impact resulting from the coupling attempt and knew, or should have known, of the risk inherent in such an attempt and chanced that risk, your verdict must be for the defendant."

The appellate court sustained the trial court in refusing said instruction in the following language:

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