1959

Parley D. Bills v. Denver & Rio Grande Western Railroad Co. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

INSTRUCTION NO. 25 WAS NOT PREJUDICIAL ERROR.

Instructon No. 25 told the jury what was required of the plaintiff "by the safety rules of The Denver and Rio

Grande Western Railroad Company," i. e., "to protect himself against injury *as far as possible* from jerks, slack action or any other unexpected motion by keeping a firm grip and a secure foothold when riding on or in moving equipment." The enactment of safety rules for the protection of employees is recognized by the courts as a salutary practice not to be discouraged by judicial disregard of the employee's violation. In fact, the general rule appears to be that in a suit against his employer, an employee's disobedience of a safety rule promulgated for the employee's protection amounts to negligence as a matter of law.

35 Am. Jur. 701. Cases collected at footnote 13.
Unadilla Valley R. Co. v. Caldine, 278 U. S. 139,
 49 Sup. Ct. 91.

The existence of a safety rule and the employee's knowledge of it are always material in determining whether or not the employee was negligent. Plaintiff's complaint here is that the safety rule was made the standard of care and that it is a more stringent standard than the law otherwise imposes. We submit that neither position is correct.

The standard of care imposed by the rules of negligence was defined in Instructions Nos. 7, 11, 12 and 13. Plaintiff takes no exception to these instructions. The import of Instruction No. 25 is not to substitute the safety rule for the standard set forth in these 4 instructions but merely to advise the jury of the rule. This was perfectly proper for even if it be held that a knowing violation is not negligence *per se*, still it is a circumstance to be considered by the jury in deliberating on the issue of negligence. The instruction tells the jury what the safety rules require of

the plaintiff. It does not tell the jury that a violation is negligence.

Assume, however, that the instruction is to be interpreted as informing the jury that a violation of this particular safety rule would be negligence per se. Was it error under the facts of this case to so instruct the jury? We think not. Plaintiff's objection is that the rule requires the plaintiff to anticipate negligence. This is not so. The rule does require plaintiff to anticipate "as far as possible, jerks, slack action or any other unexpected motion * * * when riding on or in moving equipment". Here we are talking about "slack action" and not "any other unexpected motion." It is possible for plaintiff to anticipate slack action on freight trains in yard limits and under the evidence reasonable care requires that much as a matter of law. Plaintiff's own evidence demonstrates that trainmen must always be prepared for slack action in yard limits in order to protect themselves. It is not possible to anticipate negligence and since the rule requires only that the employee protect himself "as far as possible" it does not mean that he must anticipate negligence. *That portion of the rule material to the facts of this case requires only that the employee protect himself "as far as possible from * * * slack action."* This is not unreasonable. Certainly the reasonable man standard would require this of a trainman in plaintiff's position. This safety rule is like the one involved in the case of *Pauly v. McCarthy*, 109 Utah 398, 166 P. 2d 501, where the court said:

"It was a cautionary rule for the safety of the employee. It simply put in rule form a precaution

which common sense would without the rule have prescribed as proper care on the part of a prudent man."

Plaintiff also contends that the instruction revives the defense of assumed risk. Apparently it is plaintiff's position that the instruction tells the jury in effect that the plaintiff cannot recover if he knew or was aware of danger presented by the defendant's negligence. The complete answer to this tenuous argument is that neither this instruction nor any other instruction given by the court instructs the jury that violation of the safety rule or even negligence of the plaintiff would be a defense. The jury was instructed that if the defendant was guilty of negligence which proximately caused plaintiff's injuries, plaintiff was entitled to recover (without regard to plaintiff's negligence). In the cases cited by plaintiff, there was an instruction on assumed risk and the same was accompanied with a statement that the plaintiff could not recover if he knew or was aware of the danger. This instruction at the most defined the standard of care and nothing more. It did not even relate to assumed risk and there was no language therein which indicated that plaintiff's own conduct could be a defense. We submit that Instruction No. 25 was not error.

But even should the court conclude that Instruction No. 25 was error, it could not possibly have been prejudicial error. We have already pointed out that there was no substantial evidence of negligence and hence the matter should not have been submitted to the jury. Aside from this, however, the jury's verdict of "no cause of action" necessarily

(under the instructions of the court) amounts to a finding that the defendant was not guilty of negligence which was a proximate cause of the accident. It must be remembered that contributory negligence is not a defense in F. E. L. A. cases. It is material only by way of diminution of damages (45 U. S. C. A. § 53. See Appellant's Brief and cases cited, Page 21). The court repeatedly instructed the jury that if they found the defendant negligent. * * *

“And if you further find from a preponderance of the evidence that such negligence proximately caused, in whole or in part, injuries to plaintiff then you should return a verdict in favor of the plaintiff and against the defendant and award to plaintiff damages as in these instructions set forth.” (Instructions Nos. 12, 13, 14 and 15.)

The jury under the instructions was to return a verdict regardless of plaintiff's negligence if they found defendant was negligent and its negligence was a proximate cause of the plaintiff's injuries.

“Plaintiff's negligence had a bearing only to the extent it might diminish the amount of the verdict (R. 344). A “no cause of action” verdict in this case necessarily meant that the jury found there was no negligence on the part of the railroad company proximately contributing to the injuries of plaintiff. Had the jury found the issues of negligence and proximate cause in favor of plaintiff, it would have been their duty under the instructions of the court to return a verdict in favor of plaintiff (See the forms of verdict and the court's explanation to the jury. R. 344). We find no instruction here which would allow the jury

to return a verdict of no cause of action on account of plaintiff's negligence even if it were the sole proximate cause of the accident. If there had been such an instruction given, it would not change the picture here for a finding that plaintiff's negligence was the sole cause would necessarily mean that the jury found there was no negligence on the part of the defendant which proximately caused the accident.

Since the jury's verdict amounts to a finding of no negligence on the part of defendant proximately causing the plaintiff's injuries, no instruction on contributory negligence could have been prejudicial.

POINT II.

INSTRUCTION NO. 19 WAS NOT PREJUDICIAL ERROR.

Plaintiff's counsel complain of instruction No. 19 because it precluded recovery unless the jury found that there was "an unexpected jarring or jerking of unusual and unnecessary severity." It is claimed that this was prejudicial error because it placed the burden upon plaintiff

"of establishing not only that the stop was unusually and unnecessarily severe, but that no stop was reasonably to be expected by plaintiff. An expected stop could be of the severest nature imaginable, and could be caused by the gravest kind of neglect, but plaintiff still couldn't recover under this instruction." (Appellant's Brief, Page 21.)

The evidence in this case is undisputed that the jar which caused plaintiff's fall was "unexpected" by him. The record

is replete with his explanation that he thought the train was pulling out and he did not expect a stop. Contrary to plaintiff's interpretation, the instruction refers only to a stop "not expected" by plaintiff and says nothing about a stop "not reasonably to be expected." Under this instruction the plaintiff did not have the burden to show that the stop was in the latter category. Perhaps the court should have required this proof but plaintiff cannot complain of the court's failure to impose that burden.

There was no evidence here as to "an expected stop" and counsel's statement that "an expected stop could be of the severest nature imaginable * * * but plaintiff still couldn't recover" is just grasping at straws. This case involves a stop which all parties agree was "unexpected" by plaintiff. The word "unexpected" as it is used in this instruction is actually surplusage.

Plaintiff's final attack on this instruction is that it

"eliminates plaintiff's right to recover if the stop, although normal, was not reasonably to be expected."
(Appellant's Brief, Pages 21-22.)

The answer to this argument is that if this stop was not unusually or unnecessarily severe (or as plaintiff say, it was a "normal" stop) defendant could not be held guilty of negligence. If not "unusually or unnecessarily severe" it follows that any jar which accompanied the stop was usual and necessary. Plaintiff cannot recover simply because a stop was made when he didn't expect it. We find no decisions which hold a railroad company guilty of negligence by reason of the fact that a freight train was stopped during switching operations in a railroad yard.

Instruction 19 was not error.

POINT III.

INSTRUCTION NO. 20 WAS NOT PREJUDICIAL ERROR.

Plaintiff's counsel take exception to Instruction No. 20 because it * * *

"eliminates plaintiff's contention that the making of the stop at all could have been found by the jury to be negligence on the part of the railroad company." (Appellant's Brief, Pages 22-23.)

Plaintiff made no contention below that the making of the stop itself amounted to negligence. There was no such allegation in the pleadings. There was no such contention made at pre-trial when the contentions of negligence were limited to those pleaded. There was no requested instruction on this theory. Plaintiff's testimony itself limits the issue as follows:

(R. 197)

"Q. In any event, you don't blame any of the brakemen for anything that occurred in this particular case?

"A. No, sir.

"Q. You are putting the blame solely on an improper application of the brakes by the engineer.

"A. Yes, sir."

See also R. 156, 157.

Switching operations are necessarily characterized by stops and starts and short movements. There was nothing unusual about this movement. Plaintiff's own evidence demonstrates this. It is possible that the switching of cars

into the train could have been handled in one of two alternative ways. With regard to this, plaintiff said: "Either way is proper and usual" (Exhibit 12). The experienced trainmen decided on the move which was made and the engineer simply acted on the brakemen's signals. Certainly the move itself was not negligence. Defendant was not deprived of any of his contentions below.

Plaintiff also urges that Instruction No. 20 does violence to the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* because of the statement therein that

"slack action, even though * * * severe * * * does not in and of itself establish negligence on the part of the Railroad."

This, of course, was a correct statement of the law. It did not deprive plaintiff of the benefit of the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur*. Counsel's statement that "unexplained severe slack action would support a finding of negligence" (Appellant's Brief, Page 25) is not the law. If *res ipsa* was applicable in this case, it was only on a finding (1) that the train was in the possession of and under the exclusive control of the defendant and that it appears that the injury resulted from some act or omission incident to the defendant's responsibility to use due care with respect to such train; (2) that the incident was of such nature as does not happen in the ordinary course of things if those who have control of the train use ordinary care, and (3) that the circumstances surrounding the causing of the occurrence were such that the plaintiff is not in a position to know what specific conduct was the cause, where the defendant may reasonably be expected to know, and be able to explain

the cause of the incident. J. I. F. U. 17.30; *White v. Pinney*, 99 Utah 484, 108 P. 2d 249; *Loos v. Mountain Fuel Supply Co.*, 99 Utah 496, 108 P. 2d 254; *Wightman v. Mountain Fuel Supply Co.*, 5 Utah 2d 373, 302 P. 2d 471. Thus, slack action alone (explained or unexplained) was not enough to support an inference or finding of negligence, and Instruction No. 20 was correct. Plaintiff got the full benefit of the doctrine of res ipsa from Instruction No. 14.

But, plaintiff was not entitled to go to the jury on res ipsa anyway. His own evidence failed to satisfy the requirements of the doctrine. Slack action was shown to be a necessary and common incident of switching movements. Severe slack action commonly occurs in the absence of negligence and plaintiff and every one of his witnesses (except the doctor) knew and testified as to the cause of slack action. This was not such an incident as "does not happen in the ordinary course of things" nor was plaintiff in a position where he could not be expected to "know what specific conduct was the cause." Plaintiff himself said that it was common and usual for slack action to accompany switching movements and that it was common for freight trains to stop and start within yard limits. According to his own testimony, the slack action here, though severe, was "not unusual" (R. 171). The cases hold that res ipsa is not applicable under the circumstances of this case. See e. g. *Hunt v. Chicago, B. & Q. R. Co.*, 181 Iowa 845, 165 N. W. 105. In the *Hunt* case the court said:

"* * * "Turning, then, to the case before us, what was the accident which resulted in the plaintiff's injury? It was a sudden jerking to an unusual degree of the caboose of a freight train.

What were the circumstances of this unusual jerking? In a sense, there were no circumstances, except the fact of the jerking, unless we treat as a circumstance the fact that the train was about to stop at the water tank. Such a stop would need to be at a particular place, and the attempt to make it might result in a sudden jerking. The so-called accident was so void of circumstances that it would not have been deemed as an accident at all, except for the injury to the plaintiff. We think it quite clear that there is nothing in the nature of the circumstances of this accident to open the door to the application of the doctrine of *res ipsa*. To apply such doctrine to this case would be in effect to say that the fact of the accident is *prima facie* proof of the negligence.' "

Instruction No. 20 was not error.

POINT IV.

INSTRUCTION NO. 23 WAS NOT PREJUDICIAL ERROR.

Plaintiff's exception to Instruction No. 23 is upon the same grounds as his exception to Instruction No. 20. The plaintiff himself testified:

"Q. You are putting the blame solely on an improper application of the brakes by the engineer.

"A. Yes, sir."

The court instructed by Instruction No. 20:

"Before you can find the Railroad negligent in this case you must find that the engineer operating the train failed to do what an ordinary prudent engineer would have done under the circumstances."

We fail to see the error. Counsel argues that this instruction precluded a possible finding that the brakemen, Wonnacott and Serassio, were negligent. With regard to this, plaintiff said:

“Q. In any event you don’t blame any of the brakemen for anything that occurred in this particular case?”

“A. No, sir.”

There was no contention below that the stop itself as distinguished from the manner of the stop was negligence. Neither the pleadings, pretrial order nor requested instructions set forth such a theory. Instruction 23 was in complete accord with plaintiff’s evidence and the theory on which the case was tried below. Even had plaintiff contended below that the stop itself was negligence, such theory should not have been submitted to the jury for reasons stated in answer to Point III, *supra*, and particularly in view of the fact that plaintiff himself said the move which necessitated the stop was “proper and usual” (Exhibit 12). A contrary holding would virtually make it impossible for railroad companies to conduct switching operations without liability to any employee who may be injured by movement of a train. This court is aware of the fact that the operation of a freight train is not a sight-seeing tour. It is necessarily attended with unavoidable perils well known to experienced trainmen.

POINT V.

INSTRUCTION NO. 24 WAS NOT PREJUDICIAL ERROR.

Instruction No. 24 is substantially identical to J. I. F. U. Instruction No. 16.6. It is an established rule of law in

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